Article history: Received: 24 May 2012 Revised: 29 May 2012 Accepted: 30 May 2012 Available online: 2 June 2012



Poly(alkyl cyanoacrylate) nanoparticles as drug carriers: 33 years later

Georgi Yordanov

Faculty of Chemistry and Pharmacy, Sofia University "St. Kliment Ohridski", 1 James Bourchier Blvd., 1164 Sofia, Bulgaria Corresponding author. E-mail: g.g.yordanov@gmail.com

First prepared in 1979, the colloidal nanoparticles based on biocompatible and bioerosive poly(alkyl cyanoacrylate) materials are still under investigation and hold promise for the development of novel formulations for targeted drug delivery. Different types of poly(alkyl cyanoacrylate) nanoparticles have been developed during the last 33 years, such as nanospheres, nanocapsules, hybrid magnetic-polymer nanoparticles, long-circulating nanoparticles, as well as nanoparticles functionalized with targeting ligands. A great variety of bioactive compounds have been loaded on poly(alkyl cyanoacrylate) nanoparticles, such as cytostatics, antibiotics, antiviral agents, anti-fungal drugs, non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs, bioactive proteins, nucleotides, etc. Therefore, this review cannot be and is not intended to be a complete review of all the research that has been done in this area, but just to bring together the basic concepts and ideas related to the preparation and applications of poly(alkyl cyanoacrylate) nanoparticles as drug carriers, emphasizing on the most important findings and discussing the future perspectives.

Keywords: drug delivery; nanoparticles; poly(alkyl cyanoacrylate)

Contents:

1. Introduction	
2. Methods for preparation	
2.1. Polymerization-based methods	
2.2. Nanoprecipitation	65
3. Mechanisms of drug release	65
4. Biodistribution and drug targeting	

Dr. Georgi Yordanov is working as an assistant professor at the Faculty of Chemistry and Pharmacy at Sofia University "St. Kliment Ohridski", where hold lectures in "Pharmaceutical



nanotechnology" and "Nanotechnology in biology, pharmacy and medicine". He has specialized in Spain (University of Vigo), Japan (Meiji University) and Slovakia (Slovak Academy of Science). For his research work Dr. Yordanov has received numerous awards - award for young scientist in polymer science "Prof. Ivan Shopov" (Union of chemists in Bulgaria and the Institute of polymers, BAS, 2010), "Prof. Berndt Artin Vessels" Award (German Foundation for promotion of Bulgarian higher education, 2004) and nomination for the "Pitagor" award for young scientist (Bulgarian Ministry of Education, Youth and Science, 2011). The scientific interests of Dr. Yordanov are mainly in the field of biomedical nanotechnology, including development of novel colloidal formulations of anticancer drugs and antibiotics.

4.1. Interaction of PACA-based nanocarriers with
proteins from human blood plasma66
4.2. PACA-based nanocarriers for delivery of
drugs to phagocytic cells67
4.3. PACA-based nanocarriers for cancer
chemotherapy67
4.4. PACA-based nanocarriers for drug
delivery to the brain68
4.5. Hybrid PACA-based nanoparticles69
5. Biodegradation and toxicity69
6. Conclusions

1. Introduction

It has been shown that the use of colloidal systems for drug delivery could change the pharmacokinetics of different drugs, which may result in improved therapeutic index [1-10]. Such drug carriers include polymeric micelles, nanoparticles (made of biodegradable synthetic polymers, proteins or lipids), liposomes, niosomes, dendrimers, nanoemulsions, magnetic nanocarriers, multifunctional nanosized carriers, etc. These usually represent spherical colloidal structures of submicron size, which must be biodegradable and stable in body fluids, not causing systemic toxicity, embolism and immune response. In the ideal case, these nanocarriers can be loaded with various drugs and targeted to a pathological location in the body, providing increased bioavailability of drugs, decreased effective dose, protection of unstable drugs, achieving high drug concentration in infected or abnormal cells and low concentration in normal cells thus decreasing the drug toxicity and undesirable side effects. Many different synthetic polymers have been found to be suitable for preparation of various drug nanocarriers poly(lactic acid), poly(alkyl cyanoacrylate), poly(εcaprolactone), etc. Each of these polymers has advantages and disadvantages, which should all be taken into account when designing new drug delivery systems.

In this review the poly(alkyl cyanoacrylate) (PACA) colloids are consider as drug delivery systemsed. First prepared by emulsion polymerization in 1979 [11], the colloidal nanoparticles based on biocompatible and bioerosive PACA materials are still under investigations and hold promise for the development of novel formulations for targeted drug delivery [12-20]. The highly reactive alkyl cyanoacrylate monomers are approved for human use as surgical glues [21]; butyl cyanoacrylate is used as surgical glue in Bulgaria. These

monomers are highly reactive and can be polymerized via anionic, zwitterionic or radical mechanism in suitable polymerization medium to form various types of nanocarriers - nanospheres, core-shell nanoparticles (with covalently attached hydrophilic polymers on the surface), nanocapsules (with oily or aqueous core), hybrid nanoparticles with magnetic core, etc. (Fig. 1). Effective method has been developed for large-scale sterilization of the nanoparticle formulations by gammaradiation has been developed [22,23]. Different types of PACA-based nanocarriers, incorporating a great variety of drugs, such as cytostatics, antibiotics, antiviral agents, anti-fungal drugs, non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs, etc. Despite many in vitro and in vivo preclinical studies and few clinical trials, no formulation with these nanocarriers reached regular clinical application to date, which raises the question is there a real potential use for these nanocarrier system [24]. This has been attributed to the fact that a number of factors may interfere with the reproducibility of in vitro and in vivo results, which impedes the comparison of the many experiments done with PACA nanoparticles [24]. This review considers the current status and the challenges of using PACA nanoparticles as drug delivery systems. It is mainly intended to bring together the basic concepts and ideas related to the preparation and potential applications of PACA nanoparticles, emphasizing on the most important findings and discussing the future perspectives.



Figure 1. Schematic illustration of various types of PACA-based nanocarriers: **a**) nanospheres with adsorbed surfactant molecules; **b**) core-shell nanospheres; **c**) nanocapsules with adsorbed surfactant molecules; **d**) hybrid nanoparticle with adsorbed surfactant molecules.

REVIEW



Figure 2. Chemical structures of some alkyl cyanoacrylate monomers used for the preparation of nanoparticles and their abbreviations: methyl cyanoacrylate (MCA); ethyl cyanoacrylate (ECA); butyl cyanoacrylate (BCA); isobutyl cyanoacrylate (IBCA); isobexyl cyanoacrylate (IHCA); octyl cyanoacrylate (OCA).

2. Methods for preparation

2.1. Polymerization-based methods

Alkyl cyanoacrylate monomers are highly reactive due to the combination of two electron-withdrawing groups (ester and nitrile) bonded to the same carbon atom. The structure of some alkyl cyanoacrylates, which are used for the preparation of nanoparticles, are shown in Fig. 2. The combination of the two electron-withdrawing groups leads to polarization of the C=C bond that is likely to be attacked by anions and compounds with nucleophilic groups (such as amines). Although the polymerization reaction proceeds quite rapid, it has been possible to determine the kinetics and mechanism of alkyl cyanoacrylate polymerization [25-32]. It is noteworthy that most of the preparation protocols reported so far are based on polymerization in aqueous medium, where the hydroxide ion is the initiator of the reaction [31]. A schematic illustration of the anionic polymerization of alkyl cyanoacrylates is given in Fig. 3. Most of the reported preparations of PACA-based nanoparticles in aqueous medium by polymerization-based methods proceed via anionic mechanism. For better control of the polymerization reaction, the aqueous polymerization medium contains acidic additives to decrease the pH, respectively to decrease the concentration of the hydroxide ions. If a compound with nucleophilic groups (for example, the drug to be loaded in to the nanoparticles) is present in the polymerization medium, it can attack the monomer molecule, leading to initiation of zwitterionic polymerization [33-36]. In this case the drug molecules become covalently associated with the polymer backbone. Such reactive drugs could be loaded on PACA nanoparticles by using the nanoprecipitation approach (see section 2.2).

The classical approach for the preparation of PACA nanospheres is the emulsion polymerization in aqueous medium [11]. The method is based on the polymerization of the monomer in acidic (pH \sim 3) aqueous medium containing a suitable colloidal stabilizer, which is approved for biomedical applications (such as poloxamer 188, polysorbate 80, dextran, etc.). The chemical reaction proceeds via anionic mechanism, but the mechanism of nanoparticle formation seems to be quite complicated and still not fully understood. The mechanism of particle formation appears to take place in three separate steps, as described by Behan et al. [32]. Initially, oligomeric species are produced in the monomer droplet and are then terminated by the acid inhibiting agents present in the monomer (which seems to be the step that may lead to batch to batch variation in oligomer molecular mass and thus particle size). In the second step aggregation of the oligomeric units is followed by their swelling with monomer. The third and final step consists the in situ re-initiation of terminated oligomeric units by live chains followed by further polymerisation until equilibration of molecular mass is reached [32]. Various factors, such as pH of polymerization medium, the presence of inhibitors in the monomer, the concentration of monomer, the type of colloidal stabilizer, the type of drug and its concentration, all may have an effect on the molecular mass of polymer formed and the size of obtained nanoparticles [37-41]. In most of the cases the molecular mass is less then 5-10 kDa [42], which is required for the products of the particle biodegradation to be successfully eliminated. Various surfactants that are approved for pharmaceutical applications are used as colloidal stabilizers (polysorbate 80, poloxamer 188, etc.). The colloidal stabilizers prevent nanoparticle aggregation by adsorption on the nanoparticle surface, and thus providing steric repulsion between the particles. Various dextrans (which are not



Figure 3. Polymerization of alkyl cyanoacrylates by anionic mechanism.

amphiphilic and cannot form micelles) also have found application as stabilizers for nanoparticle dispersions, although our experience shows that nanoparticles obtained in some cases are usually larger (with wider size distribution) and less stable. A representative scanning electron microscopy (SEM) image of pure PBCA nanoparticles prepared in our laboratory using emulsion polymerization is shown in Fig. 4a. These nanoparticles are formed after polymerization (for 3 h) in aqueous polymerization medium, containing poloxamer 188 and citric acid (pH \sim 3) at monomer concentration of 1% (w/w). Drugs can be loaded in PACA nanospheres by entrapment in the polymer matrix of the particles during the polymerization or by adsorption on the surface of pre-synthesized particles [13]. Usually adsorbed drugs are usually more weakly bounded and are released faster than the entrapped drugs.



Figure 4. SEM images of PBCA nanoparticles prepared by: **a**) emulsion polymerization in the presence of citric acid and poloxamer 188; **b**) nanoprecipitation in the presence of poloxamer 188.



MePEG-block-PACA



PACA-block-PEG-block-PACA

Polysaccharide-decorated PACA nanoparticles have been prepared in aqueous medium via redox radical emulsion polymerization [43-49]. This polymerization has been carried out in the presence of Ce(IV), nitric acid and various polysaccharides. The surface of the nanoparticles can be modulated by the nature, and the molecular mass of the polysaccharide used as stabilizer of the polymer colloids. Drugs, such as doxorubicin, can be loaded by adsorption on the nanoparticle surface [49].

Zwitterionic polymerization has been used to prepare PACA-based nanospheres of the core-shell type with covalently attached poly(ethylene glycol) (PEG) chains on the nanoparticle surface (so-called PEGylated nanoparticles) [50-53]. The polymerization has been carried out at low pH in the presence of PEG or methoxy-PEG (MePEG). The authors suggested that at these conditions the polymerization of alkyl cyanoacrylate is initiated by the hydroxyl group(s) of PEG and MePEG, and resulted in the formation of amphiphilic block copolymers PACA-block-PEG-block-PACA and MePEGblock-PACA, respectively (see Fig. 5). The obtained copolymers are amphiphilic and it was supposed that at the nanoparticle surface their PEG-blocks form chains or loops oriented toward the aqueous phase, thus providing hydrophilic surface and steric stabilization of the nanoparticles. Similar strategy has been utilized for the development of PEGylated PBCA nanocapsules [53]. These preparations were all performed at low pH (\sim 1) in order to be minimized the concurrent initiation of the reaction by the hydroxide ions to be minimized. The cellular uptake and targeting abilities of nanoparticles could be influenced greatly by the PEG-coating. The adsorption of proteins on the nanoparticle surface of PEGylated nanoparticles is less pronounced leading to decreased uptake of the particles by the cells (for which reason PEGylated nanoparticles are frequently called "stealth" particles) of the reticuloendothelial system and increased circulation life-times in blood [52-55]. Yet the nanoprecipitation approach allows yet another strategy for the preparation of PEGylated PACA nanoparticles (see section 2.2).

Interfacial polymerization technique has been used



poly(MePEG-CA-co-HDCA)

Figure 5. Chemical structures of various PACA-based copolymers (see the text for details).

COOR

for the preparation of nanocapsules and hybrid (organicinorganic) composite PACA-based nanoparticles. This process takes place at the interface between two phases. It has been used for the preparation of nanocapsules, consisting of oily or aqueous core, surrounded by polymer membrane [56-59]. Oil-containing nanocapsules could be carriers of lipophilic molecules, whereas hydrophilic ones are efficiently encapsulated into water-containing nanocapsules. Oil-containing nanocapsules can be prepared by adding acetone solution of monomer and suitable oil into aqueous solution of colloidal stabilizer under vigorous stirring, leading to small oil/monomer droplets; the polymerization starts at the water/monomer interface initiated by hydroxide anions presented in the water [56,57]. For successful preparation of nanocapsules it is important that the polymer is insoluble in the organic oil. Nanocapsules with aqueous core have been prepared by addition of monomer solution to water in oil (w/o) microemulsion [58,59]. PEGylated nanocapsules have been prepared by similar strategy in the presence of PEG at low pH [53]. The main problem in these protocols is that nanospheres are obtained together with the nanocapsules and optimization of the solvent/oil ratio is usually required to minimize the formation of nanospheres. Preparation of nanocapsules from pre-synthesized polymer by interfacial deposition also has been reported (see section 2.2).

Interfacial polymerization has been used for the preparation of various hybrid (organic-inorganic) composite nanoparticles that contain inside small inorganic nanoparticles with specific functionalities. Magnetic nanoparticles have been incorporated in PACA colloids with the aim to control the drug release rate and particle localization by using external electromagnetic fields [60-64]. We recently have developed new types of hybrid inorganic/PACA nanoparticles for bioimaging applications by using quantum dots as fluorescent labels [65]. Later, quantum dot-loaded PEGylated PACA-based nanoparticles for *in vitro* and *in vivo* imaging have been prepared by Nicolas *et al.* [66]. Hybrid nanoparticles, containing zinc oxide (ZnO) cores, were also recently developed in our laboratory [67].

2.2. Nanoprecipitation

The nanoprecipitation approach for preparation of polymer colloids is a well-known technique in polymer science [68-70]. For the preparation of aqueous dispersions of polymer nanoparticles the polymer (which

is not soluble in water) is dissolved in water-miscible organic solvent and is added to the aqueous medium thus resulting in phase separation of the polymer in the form of nanoparticles. The polymer particles are formed spontaneously and the organic solvent is then removed by evaporation. If the polymer is amphiphilic there is no need of additional colloidal stabilizer in the aqueous medium. Such a technique has been applied for the preparation of PEGylated nanoparticles composed of glycol)-cyanoacrylate-copoly[methoxy-poly(ethylene hexadecyl cyanoacrylate] amphiphilic copolymer, poly(MePEG-CA-co-HDCA) [71-82] (Fig. 5). Such PEGylated nanoparticles have been loaded with fluorescent quantum dots for bioimaging [66], with anticancer drugs for delivery to the brain [79], etc. Importantly, it has been found that such nanoparticles are less recognizable by the cells of reticuloendothelial system (RES) and could be used for drug targeting to solid tumours via the EPR effect [52-55] (see section 4.3).

Recently, we have adapted the nanoprecipitation method in order to prepare pure and drug-loaded poly(butyl cyanoacrylate) (PBCA) nanoparticles [83]. In our experiments we have used PBCA with molecular mass Mw ~ 2 kDa, which is soluble in acetone. As colloidal stabilizers we have used dextran (~ 40 kDa), poloxamer 188 or polysorbate 80. The pure PBCA nanoparticles obtained by nanoprecipitation are usually 200-300 nm in size (Fig. 4b). We have utilized the nanoprecipitation technique to entrap chlorambucil [83], epirubicin [84] and econazole [85] in PBCA nanospheres. The nanoprecipitation method for preparation of PACA-based nanoparticles has the advantage that the used pre-synthesized polymers are well-characterized and their characteristics do not depend on the conditions of the nanoparticle formation. This approach could be useful also for the entrapment of highly sensitive and/or reactive drugs, which could initiate zwitterionic polymerization or are unstable in the acidic medium of the classical emulsion polymerization. The nanoprecipitation method has also been adapted for the preparation of PACA-based nanocapsules by interfacial deposition of presynthesized polymer between the aqueous medium and the oily nano-droplets [86-88].

3. Mechanisms of drug release

There are different mechanisms of drug release depending on the type of drug loading in nanoparticles

[13,17] (*Fig. 6*). Drugs that are adsorbed on the surface of pre-synthesized nanoparticles are released by desorption. Entrapped drugs, which are weakly bounded to the polymer material, are released by diffusion. Drugs, which have high affinity to the polymer are released very slowly by diffusion and can be released during the bioerosion of the polymer. It has been shown that enzymes, which enhance the rate of nanoparticle erosion (by enhancing the hydrolysis of ester bonds), also accelerate the drug release from PACA nanoparticles [89]. The main degradation pathway for PACA is the hydrolysis of the ester bond. The larger is the alkyl side chain – the lower is the degradation rate of the polymer [90]. In vitro methods for evaluation of the degradation rate of PACA nanoparticles have been developed [91] (the biodegradation of PACA nanoparticles is considered also in section 5).



Figure 6. Illustration of the drug release from nanoparticles by desorption, diffusion and erosion. The drug molecules are represented by small black circles.

4. Biodistribution and drug targeting

4.1. Interaction of PACA-based nanocarriers with proteins from human blood plasma

Immediately after parenteral administration of nanoparticles into the organism they interact with proteins from the blood plasma. The rate and the strength of this interaction with the various proteins present in blood plasma largely determines the biodistribution pattern of the nanocarriers and therefore represents an important topic for scientific research [92-95]. The major proteins from blood plasma that have been found to interact with various PACA-based nanoparticles include albumin, fibrinogen, IgG, IgM, transferrin, complement factors and various apolipoproteins [74,96-98]. The chemistry of the nanoparticle surface largely determines the pattern of this interaction. More hydrophilic surfaces attract fewer amount of proteins. Therefore, the interaction of PEGylated nanoparticles with proteins has been found to be diminished in comparison with hydrophobic nanoparticles [74,96,97]. The nanoparticles of PACA homopolymers have relatively hydrophobic surfaces and adsorb larger amounts of proteins thus tending to be more easily recognized and internalized by phagocytic cells, because proteins like complement components and immunoglobulins serve as opsonins - substances that coat foreign objects and destine them for phagocytosis. Such nanoparticles could be suitable as drug carriers for antibiotics that need to be delivered to phagocytic cells (in cases of intracellular infections; see section 4.2) or other bioactive substances that need to be delivered to the cells of the reticuloendothelial system (RES). The PEGylated nanoparticles (composed of amphiphilic PACA-based copolymers) are less recognizable by the phagocytic cells and therefore are known as "stealth" carriers or long-circulating carriers (circulating for a long time the in blood stream, because are not captured by phagocytes) [52-55]. Such nanoparticles are suitable for cancer treatment via the so called enhanced permeability and retention (EPR) effect (see section 4.3). Another type of PACA-based nanocarriers combines the advantages of the "stealth" carriers (c.a. hydrophilicity) and ligands that make it possible to selectively recognize target cells (such as folate-modified nanocarriers that target cancer cells expressing the folate receptor; see section 4.3) [99-101]. The two main types of PACAbased nanoparticles (non-PEGylated and PEGylated) are schematically represented in Fig. 7.



Figure 7. Illustration of the interaction of plasma proteins (represented with small circles) with nanoparticles: **a**) nanoparticles of homopolymers interact strongly with proteins; **b**) PEGylated nanoparticles interact weakly with proteins.

REVIEW

4.2. PACA-based nanocarriers for delivery of drugs to phagocytic cells

It has been shown that entrapment of antibiotics in nanocarriers can improve the therapeutic index by targeting drug delivery to infected cells [10,13,102-107]. There, number of intracellular pathogens, such as salmonellosis, tuberculosis, listeriosis, etc., cause severe infections. These microorganisms have developed different survival mechanisms that make these infections difficult to eradicate [102,103]. The basic idea behind using antibiotic nanocarriers is to design a carrier system that is able to be endocytosed by infected phagocytes and then the antibiotic to be released into these cells. Macrophages could recognize opsonized nanoparticles as foreign species and nanoparticles could become entrapped in the phagolysosomes, thus becoming in close contact with the bacterial cells there [13]. The entrapment of ampicillin in poly(isohexyl cyanoacrylate) (PIHCA) nanoparticles was found to increase by 120fold the antibiotic efficacy in experimental salmonellosis [104,108]. Other antibiotics have also been incorporated in various PACA-based nanocarriers [102,105-107,109-113]. Recently, we have developed ciprofloxacin-loaded PBCA nanoparticles, which allowed pH-controllable drug release [114]. Our preliminary susceptibility tests on a clinical isolate of Escherichia coli showed that ciprofloxacin-loaded PBCA nanoparticles are at least as active as the free drug [114]. Tests with ampicillin-loaded poly(isobutyl cyanoacrylate) (PIBCA) nanoparticles on infected macrophages, have shown that after 30 h of incubation the viable bacteria were reduced with 99 % as compared with controls, while the free ampicillin had a little effect [115]. In vivo experiments with mice have been performed, demonstrating the high efficiency of antibiotic-loaded PACA nanoparticles for the treatment of intracellular infections [13,104,115]. Similar ideas stand behind using nanocarriers loaded with antiviral agents [116-120]. The main problem to be considered in such biomedical applications of PACA nanoparticles is the overloading of phagocytic cells with excess of polymer material (as well as drug), which may lead to toxicity.

4.3. PACA-based nanocarriers for cancer chemotherapy

In order to obtain delivery systems for targeted cancer treatment (for detailed reviews see refs. [10,13,17]), various bioactive compounds (cytostatics, hormones,

peptides and nucleic acids) have been loaded in PACA nanocarriers. The nanoparticle surface can be specially designed in order to make the nanoparticles suitable for a particular cancer treatment. Usually, after intravenous administration, colloidal nanoparticles are cleared from the blood stream by the mononuclear phagocytic cells (MPC), mainly by the fixed macrophages of liver and spleen [121-123]. This may be utilized for passive targeting of drugs to the spleen, liver, lung, or bone marrow. Such nanoparticles, if loaded with anticancer agent, can be used for treatment of cancers that are localized in these organs. Although the drug-loaded nanoparticles do not reach directly the cancer cells, the phagocytes in the organs, where the nanoparticles become entrapped, may serve as drug reservoirs. It has been shown that the utilization of nanocarrier systems can improve drug targeting also to lymph nodes [124-127]. In vivo studies proved that PIBCA nanocapsules showed enhanced accumulation of drug in the lymph nodes, compared with other carriers such as emulsions and liposomes [126]. To enhance drug delivery to lymph nodes, various methods of surface modification of the nanocarriers have been studied, such as coating with poloxamines or poloxamers [128], although the rote of nanoparticle administration seems to be quite important for their biodistribution – lymphatic localization has been subcutaneous observed at and intraperitoneal administration of nanoparticles [124].

As described above, the uptake of nanocarriers by macrophages can be reduced by surface PEGylation [129-131]. The PEGylated nanocarriers when administered intravenously have longer blood circulation half-times. On the other hand, most solid tumours have



Figure 8. Schematic illustration of the EPR-effect used for passive targeting of nanoparticles to solid tumours.

unique pathological characteristics that are not observed in normal tissues and organs, such as extensive angiogenesis and hyper-permeable vasculature (fenestrations in the walls of blood vessels) and nonfunctional lymphatic drainage that causes retention of macromolecules and nanoparticles in the tumour tissue. This is known as the enhanced permeability and retention (EPR) effect [13,17] (*Fig. 8*). Drug-loaded nanocarriers therefore can penetrate through the leaky tumour vasculature, to accumulate and degrade in the tumour interstitium, releasing the loaded drug and creating its high local concentration.

The nanoparticle surface can be modified with targeting ligands (such as folic acid; Fig. 9a) that recognize a specific target thus achieving active targeting of the nanoparticle carrier system to cancer cells [99-101]. The idea behind decoration of nanocarriers with folate is that many cancer cells overexpress the folatebinding protein on their surfaces. However, one must keep in mind that normal actively dividing cells also express the folate receptor. It has been found that the folate-decorated nanoparticles interact more strongly with the folate-binding protein than the PEG-coated nanoparticles, which can be exploited for the selective targeting of different anticancer agents to cells that overexpress the folate receptor [99,100]. Recently developed functionalized highly PACA-based nanoparticles make it possible to decorate the particle surface with various desirable targeting ligands via azidealkyne "click" chemistry [101] (*Fig. 9b*).



Figure 9. Schematic illustration of two different types of PACA-based nanoparticles for active targeting prepared by: **a**) modification with folate; **b**) using azide–alkyne "click" chemistry.

It has been shown that PACA nanoparticle carriers can be highly efficient for the treatment of multidrugresistant cancer cells [132-134]. The mechanism may involve enhanced drug penetration into cells as well as inhibiting efflux of drug molecules from the resistant cells, although the exact mechanism is not completely clarified. For example, the utilization of doxorubicinloaded PIHCA nanoparticles for treatment of resistant breast cancer cells resulted in 130-fold increase of the drug efficiency [132].

Only few PACA-based formulations for intravenous administration have been studied clinically although there are numerous preclinical studies. Kattan *et al.* [135] have conducted a phase I clinical trial of doxorubicin-loaded PIHCA nanoparticles in 21 patients with refractory solid tumours. Although unexpected side effects such as fever, bone pain, or allergic reactions were noted, they were well tolerated and were all rapidly reversible. In a recent clinical trial [136] was found that intravenous administration of mitoxantrone-loaded PBCA nanoparticles allows prolonged median survival periods (to 5.46 months compared to 3.23 months in controls) in patients with hepatic cancer.

4.4. PACA-based nanocarriers for drug delivery to the brain

The blood-brain barrier represents a physiological barrier that limits the transport of many different compounds (including various drugs, such as antibiotics and cytostatics) to the brain tissue. Therefore, finding suitable drug carriers that can overcome this limitation is important for the development of effective therapies for various brain diseases. It has been found that drug-loaded PACA nanoparticles can be targeted into the brain by modifying their surface with the surfactant polysorbate 80 [137-139]. This surfactant represents PEG-modified sorbitane monooleate. It has been supposed that these nanocarriers adsorb apolipoproteins E from blood plasma and then cross the brain endothelium via receptormediated endocytosis and transcytosis through the endothelial cells [138]. This makes the PACA nanoparticles possible candidates for drug carriers in the treatment of brain tumours. For example, doxorubicinloaded nanoparticles with polysorbate 80-modified surface, when administered intravenously resulted in 40% cure in rats with intracranial transplanted glioblastoma [140]. However, when treating advanced brain tumours, one must take into account that nanoparticles can be

mainly localized in the tumour tissue rather via the EPR effect than by crossing the blood-brain barrier.

4.5. Hybrid PACA-based nanoparticles

Generally, two main types of composite hybrid (organic-inorganic) PACA-based nanoparticles have been developed: i) fluorescent composite nanoparticles, prepared by incorporating semiconductor nanoparticles (quantum dots); and ii) magnetic composite nanoparticles, prepared by incorporating magnetite nanoparticles. Fluorescent quantum dots represent small (usually few nanometres in diameter) nanocrystals composed of inorganic semiconductor material, which have found applications as fluorescent probes in bioimaging, especially where bright and stable fluorescent signal is required [141-143]. Such nanocrystals are usually hydrophobic (therefore are suitable for incorporation in the hydrophobic interior of colloidal nanoparticles) and have been used as fluorescent tags for colloidal drug carriers (PACA-based nanoparticles [65,66], liposomes [144], PLGA nanoparticles [145]) to visualize and investigate their interaction with living cells. Magnetic nanoparticles (of sizes usually below 100 nm) can be easily manipulated by using external magnetic fields and have a great capacity to find many applications in therapy and diagnostics [146]. Magnetic nanoparticles have been incorporated in PACA nanoparticles with the aim to achieve controllable drug release rate and particle localization by using external electromagnetic fields [60-64].

5. Biodegradation and toxicity

The cytotoxicity of PACA nanoparticles is usually correlated with the rate of biodegradation of the polymer backbone. The main products of biodegradation of PACA are poly(cyanoacrylic acid) and the corresponding alcohol, which are formed after hydrolysis of the ester bond [90]. Higher toxicity is usually observed in cases of higher biodegradation rate, which is related to the length of the alkyl side chain [147]. The PACA-based polymers with longer alkyl chain degrade slowly and are less cytotoxic. *In vitro* methods for evaluation of the degradation rate of PACA nanoparticles have been developed [91]. The adhesion of nanoparticles to the cell membrane can also increase the cytotoxicity by local release of biodegradation products in high concentrations

close to the cell membrane [148].

The toxicity of PACA-based nanoparticles is expected to depend on their physicochemical properties, which determine the actual biodistribution profile. Investigation of the liver toxicity of PACA nanoparticles shows slight modifications in the hepatic function after chronic administration of nanoparticles [149]. These effects have been found reversible when the treatment was stopped. Because the mononuclear phagocyte system is concerned, there is a potential danger for physical blockade of this tissue caused by systematic high-dose administration of nanoparticles [150,151].

It must be taken into account that utilization of nanoparticle drug carriers may be beneficial for decreasing some undesirable side effects of drugs, but the alteration of the drug biodistribution by its association with nanoparticles may cause new types of toxicity. For example, it has been shown that the incorporation of doxorubicin in PACA nanoparticles may reduce its cardio-toxicity, but may increase the bone marrow toxicity [152]. For example, unexpected side effects such as fever, bone pain, or allergic reactions were noted in a phase I trial with doxorubicin-loaded PIHCA nanoparticles, however they were well tolerated and were all rapidly reversible [135].

6. Conclusions

Now, 33 years after the first preparation of PACA nanoparticles, despite of reproducibility problems and insignificant number of clinical trials, there is still a potential for development of successful PACA-based formulations that will respond to all requirements for clinical use. It is expected that further research in this area will provide novel nano-formulations for treatment of severe diseases and will improve chemotherapy by targeted drug delivery. The future development of PACA nanoparticles could be directed toward two main goals. The first one could is the development of multifunctional nanoparticles incorporating various drugs for combined therapy, contrast agents for monitoring of the nanoparticle biodistribution, as well as some substances for improved drug action - efflux inhibitors (or other inhibitors of drug resistance), drug stabilizers and permeation enhancers. Such multifunctional nanoparticles could be decorated with targeting moieties toward specific cells and tissues and should provide better control of the drug release rate at the site of drug action. The second main goal could be encouragement of more preclinical and clinical trials with the currently developed advanced formulations, such as PEGylated and folate-decorated nanoparticles. Research could also be focussed toward the PACA-based formulations for topical and oral drug delivery, where there are less restrictive requirements for production and less risks of systemic toxicity. The development of such nanostructures is expected to improve the chemotherapy of many diseases in the future medical practice.

Acknowledgements

This work was financially supported by the Bulgarian National Science Fund (project DMU 03/111). The author is also thankful to CMST COST Action CM1101. SEM images were obtained with the technical help of Mr. Nikola Dimitrov from the Faculty of Chemistry and Pharmacy (Sofia University).

References

- [1] S. Parveen, R. Misra, S.K. Sahoo, Nanomedicine: NBM 8 (2012) 147–166.
- [2] E.S. Kawasaki, A. Player, *Nanomedicine: NBM* 1 (2005) 101–109.
- [3] A. Faraji, P. Wipf, *Bioorg. Med. Chem.* 17 (2009) 2950–2962.
- [4] J. Vasir, V. Labhasetwar, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 59 (2007) 718–728.
- [5] M. Hans, A. Lowman, Curr. Opin. Solid State Mater. Sci. 6 (2002) 319–327.
- [6] S. Moghimi, B. Bonnemain, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 37 (1999) 295–312.
- [7] B. Haley, E. Frenkel, Urol. Oncol.: Semin. Orig. Invest. 26 (2008) 57–64.
- [8] N.M.V.R. Kumar, J. Pharm. Pharm. Sci. 3 (2000) 234–258.
- [9] A. Manmode, D. Sakarkar, N. Mahajan, Int. J. PharmTech Res. 1 (2009) 1020-1027.
- [10] K. Soppimath, T. Aminabhavi, A. Kulkarni, W. Rudzinski, J. Controlled Release 70 (2001) 1–20.
- [11] P. Couvreur, B. Kante, M. Roland, P. Guiot, P. Bauduin, P. Speiser, J. Pharm. Pharmacol. 31 (1979) 331-332.
- [12] G. Yordanov, International Exchange Programs Guest Lecture Series, No. 6, Meiji University Press, Tokyo, 2009.
- [13] C. Vauthier, C. Dubernet, E. Fattal, H. Pinto-Alphandary, P. Couvreur, Adv. Drug. Deliv. Rev. 55 (2003) 519-548.
- [14] I. Brigger, C. Dubernet, P. Couvreur, *Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev.* 54 (2002) 631–651.
- [15] S. Douglas, L. Illum, S. Davis, J. Kreuter, J. Colloid Interface Sci. 101 (1984) 149–158.
- [16] S. Douglas, L. Illum, S. Davis, J. Colloid Interface Sci. 103 (1985) 154–163.
- [17] R. Murthy, L. Reddy, in: Amiji MM (Ed.), Nanotechnology for Cancer Therapy, CRC Press, **2006**.
- [18] J. Nicolas, P. Couvreur, Wiley Interdiscip. Rev.: Nanomed. Nanobiotechnol. 1 (2009) 111–127.

- [19] C. Vauthier, D. Labarre, G. Ponchel, J. Drug Target. 15 (2007) 641–63.
- [20] A. Graf, A. McDowell, T. Rades, *Expert Opin. Drug Deliv.* 6 (2009) 371–87.
- [21] H. Oowaki, S. Matsuda, N. Sakai, T. Ohta, H. Iwata, A. Sadato, W. Taki, N. Hashimoto, Y. Ikada, *Biomaterials* 21 (2000) 1039-1046.
- [22] O. Maksimenko, E. Pavlov, E. Tushov, A. Molin, Y. Stukalov, T. Prudskova, P. Sveshnikov, J. Kreuter, S. Gelperina, *Pharm. Chem. J.* 42 (2008) 52–56.
- [23] O. Maksimenko, E. Pavlov, E. Tushov, A. Molin, Y. Stukalov, T. Prudskova, P. Sveshnikov, V. Feldman, J. Kreuter, S. Gelperina, *Int. J. Pharm.* 356 (2008) 325–332.
- [24] A. Graf, A. McDowell, T. Rades, *Expert Opin Drug Deliv.* 6 (2009) 371–387.
- [25] E. Donnelly, D. Johnston, D. Pepper, D. Dunn, J. Polym. Sci. Polym. Lett. Ed. 15 (1977) 399–405.
- [26] D. Pepper, Polym. J. 12 (1980) 629-637.
- [27] D. Pepper, B. Ryan, Makromol. Chem. 184 (1983) 383-394.
- [28] B. Yamada, M. Yoshioka, T. Otsu, *Makromol. Chem.* 184 (1983) 1025–1033.
- [29] I. Eromosele, D. Pepper, B. Ryan, Makromol. Chem. 190 (1989) 1613–1622.
- [30] A. Canale, W. Goode, J. Kinsinger, J. Panchak, R. Kelso, R. Graham, J. Appl. Polym. Sci. 4 (1960) 231–236.
- [31] N. Behan, C. Birkinshaw, Macromol. Rapid Commun. 21 (2000) 884–886.
- [32] N. Behan, C. Birkinshaw, N. Clarke, *Biomaterials* 22 (2001) 1335–1344.
- [33] M. Gallardo, L. Roblot-Treupel, J. Mahuteau, I. Genin, P. Couvreur, M. Plat, F. Puisieux, Proc. 5th International Congress on Pharmaceutical Technology 4 (1989) 36–45.
- [34] V. Guise, J. Drouin, J. Benoit, J. Mahuteau, P. Dumont, P. Couvreur, *Pharm. Res.* 7 (1990) 736–741.
- [35] J. Grangier, M. Puygrenier, J. Gautier, P. Couvreur, J. Controlled Release 15 (1991) 3–13.
- [36] M.-E. Page-Clisson, H. Pinto-Alphandary, M. Ourevitch, A. Andremont, P. Couvreur, J. Controlled Release 56 (1998) 23–32.
- [37] L. Vansnick, P. Couvreur, D. Christiaensleyh, M. Roland, Pharm. Res. 1 (1985) 36–41.
- [38] M. El-Egakey, V. Bentele, J. Kreuter, Int. J. Pharm. 13 (1983) 349–352.
- [39] F. Lescure, C. Zimmer, D. Roy, P. Couvreur, J. Colloid Interface Sci. 154 (1992) 77–86.
- [40] S. Douglas, S. Davis, S. Holding, Br. Polym. J. 17 (1985) 339–342.
- [41] M. Alonso, A. Sanchez, D. Torres, B. Seijo, J. Microencapsul. 7 (1990) 517–526.
- [42] A. Bootz, T. Russ, F. Gores, M. Karas, J. Kreuter, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 60 (2005) 391–399.
- [43] C. Chauvierre, D. Labarre, P. Couvreur, C. Vauthier, *Pharm. Res.* 20 (2003) 1786–1793.
- [44] C. Chauvierre, D. Labarre, P. Couvreur, C. Vauthier, Macromolecules 36 (2003) 6018–6027.
- [45] C. Lemarchand, R. Gref, P. Couvreur, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 58 (2004) 327–341.
- [46] I. Bertholon-Rajot, D. Labarre, C. Vauthier, *Polymer* 46 (2005) 1407–1415.
- [47] I. Bertholon, H. Hommel, D. Labarre, C. Vauthier, *Langmuir* 22 (2006) 5485–5490.
- [48] I. Bertholon, S. Lesieur, D. Labarre, M. Besnard, C. Vauthier, Macromolecules 39 (2006) 3559–3567.
- [49] K. Alhareth, C. Vauthier, C. Gueutin, G. Ponchel, F. Moussa, J. Appl. Polym. Sci. 119 (2011) 816–822.

- [50] M. Peracchia, C. Vauthier, F. Puisieux, P. Couvreur, J. Biomed. Mater. Res. 34 (1997) 317–326.
- [51] M. Peracchia, C. Vauthier, M. Popa, F. Puisieux, P. Couvreur, STP Pharma Sci. 7 (1997) 513–520.
- [52] M. Peracchia, C. Vauthier, C. Passirani, P. Couvreur, D. Labarre, *Life Sci.* 61 (1997) 749–761.
- [53] Y. Zhang, S. Zhu, L. Yin, F. Qian, C. Tang, C. Yin, Eur. Polym. J. 44 (2008) 1654–1661.
- [54] S. Stolnik, L. Illum, S. Davis, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 16 (1995) 195–214.
- [55] G. Storm, S. Belliot, T. Daemen, D. Lasic, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 17 (1995) 31–48.
- [56] M. Gallardo, G. Couarraze, B. Denizot, L. Treupel, P. Couvreur, F. Puisieux, Int. J. Pharm. 100 (1993) 55–64.
- [57] G. Puglisi, M. Fresta, G. Giammona, C. Ventura, Int. J. Pharm. 125 (1995) 283-287.
- [58] G. Lambert, E. Fattal, H. Pinto-Alphandary, A. Gulik, P. Couvreur, Pharm. Res. 17 (2000) 707–714.
- [59] H. Hillaireau, T. Le Doan, H. Chacun, J. Janin, P. Couvreur, Int. J. Pharm. 331 (2007) 148-152.
- [60] H. Gao, J.-Y. Wang, X.-Z. Shen, Y.-H. Deng, W. Zhang, World J. Gastroenterol. 10 (2004) 2010–2013.
- [61] J. Arias, V. Gallardo, F. Linares-Molinero, A.V. Delgado, J. Colloid Interf. Sci. 299 (2006) 599–607.
- [62] J. Arias, V. Gallardo, M.A. Ruiz, A.V. Delgado, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 69 (2008) 54–63.
- [63] J. Arias, M.A. Ruiz, V. Gallardo, A.V. Delgado, J. Controlled Release 125 (2008) 50–58.
- [64] J. Arias, F. Linares-Molinero, V. Gallardo, A.V. Delgado, Eur. J. Pharm. Sci. 33 (2008) 252–261.
- [65] G. Yordanov, M. Simeonova, R. Alexandrova, H. Yoshimura, C. Dushkin, Colloids Surf. A 339 (2009) 199–205.
- [66] J. Nicolas, D. Brambilla, O. Carion, T. Pons, I. Maksimovic, E. Larquet, B. Le Droumaguet, K. Andrieux, B. Dubertret, P. Couvreur, *Soft Matter* 7 (2011) 6187–6193.
- [67] G. Yordanov, N. Kaneva, C. Dushkin, Colloid Polym. Sci. 287 (2009) 733–738.
- [68] C.P. Reis, R.J. Neufeld, A.J. Ribeiro, F. Veiga, *Nanomedicine: NBM* 2 (**2006**) 8–21.
- [69] O. Thioune, H. Fessi, J.P. Devissaguet, F. Puisieux, Int. J. Pharm. 146 (1997) 233–238.
- [70] F. Ganachaud, J.L. Katz, Chem. Phys. Chem. 6 (2005) 209–216.
- [71] M. Peracchia, D. Desmaele, P. Couvreur, J. dÁngelo, Macromolecules 30 (1997) 846–851.
- [72] M. Peracchia, C. Vauthier, D. Desmaele, A. Gulik, J.C. Dedieu, M. Demoy, J. dÁngelo, P. Couvreur, *Pharm. Res.* 15 (1998) 550–556.
- [73] M.T. Peracchia, E. Fattal, D. Desmaele, M. Besnard, J.P. Noel, J.M. Gomis, M. Appel, J. d'Angelo, P. Couvreur, J. Controlled Release 60 (1999) 121–128.
- [74] M.T. Peracchia, S. Harnisch, H. Pinto-Alphandary, A. Gulik, J.C. Dedieu, D. Desmaele, J. d'Angelo, R.H. Muller, P. Couvreur, *Biomaterials* 20 (1999) 1269–1275.
- [75] B. Stella, S. Arpicco, M.T. Peracchia, D. Desmaele, J. Hoebeke, M. Renoir, J. D'Angelo, L. Cattel, P. Couvreur, J. Pharm. Sci. 89 (2000) 1452–1464.
- [76] Y.P. Li, Y.Y. Pei, Z.H. Zhou, X.Y. Zhang, Z.H. Gu, J. Ding, J.J. Zhou, X.L. Gao, J.H. Zhu, *Biol. Pharm. Bull.* 24 (2001) 662–665.
- [77] P. Calvo, B. Gouritin, H. Villarroya, F. Eclancher, C. Giannavola, C. Klein, J. Andreux, P. Couvreur, *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 15 (2002) 1317–1326.
- [78] P. Calvo, B. Gouritin, I. Brigger, C. Lasmezas, J.-P. Deslys, A. Williams, J.P. Andreux, D. Dormont, P. Couvreur, J. Neurosci. Methods 111 (2001) 151–155.

- [79] P. Calvo, B. Gouritin, H. Chacun, D. Desmaele, J. D'Angelo, J.P. Noel, D. Georgin, E. Fattal, J. Andreux, P. Couvreur, *Pharm. Res.* 18 (2001) 1157–1166.
- [80] Y.P. Li, Y.Y. Pei, Z.H. Zhou, X.Y. Zhang, Z.H. Gu, J. Ding, J.J. Zhou, X.J. Gao, J. Controlled Release 71 (2001) 287–296.
- [81] I. Brigger, J. Morizet, G. Aubert, H. Chacun, M.J. Terrier-Lacombe, P. Couvreur, G. Vassal, J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 303 (2002) 928–936.
- [82] D. Brambilla, R. Verpillot, L. De Kimpe, M. Taverna, B. Le Droumaguet, J. Nicolas, M. Canovi, M. Gobbi, M. Salmona, V. Nicolas, W. Scheper, P. Couvreur, K. Andrieux, J. Controlled Release 148 (2010) e112–e124.
- [83] G. Yordanov, C. Dushkin, Colloid Polym. Sci. 288 (2010) 1019–1026.
- [84] Yordanov, R. Skrobanska, A. Evangelatov, Colloids Surf. B 92 (2012) 98–105.
- [85] G. Yordanov, *Colloids Surf. A* (**2012**), doi:10.1016/j.colsurfa.2011.12.060.
- [86] C. Mayer, Int. J. Artif. Organs 28 (2005) 1163-1171.
- [87] G. Barratt, F. Puisieux, W.-P. Yu, C. Foucher, H. Fessi, J.-Ph. Devissaguet, Int. J. Immunopharmacol. 16 (1994) 457–461.
- [88] I. Brigger, L. Armand-Lefevre, P. Chaminade, M. Besnard, Y. Rigaldie, A. Largeteau, A. Andremont, L. Grislain, G. Demazeau, P. Couvreur, *Pharm. Res.* 20 (2003) 674–683.
- [89] V. Lenaerts, P. Couvreur, D. Christiaens-Leyh, E. Joiris, M. Roland, B. Rollman, P. Speiser, *Biomaterials* 5 (1984) 65–68.
- [90] C. Lherm, R. Muller, F. Puisieux, P. Couvreur, Int. J. Pharm. 84 (1992) 13–22.
- [91] R. Muller, C. Lherm, J. Herbort, P. Couvreur, *Biomaterials* 11 (1990) 590–595.
- [92] T. Cedervall, I. Lynch, S. Lindman, T. Berggård, E. Thulin, H. Nilsson, K. Dawson, S. Linse, *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 104 (2007) 2050–2055.
- [93] I. Lynch, K. Dawson, *Nanotoday* 3 (**2008**) 40–47.
- [94] P. Aggarwal, J. Hall, C. McLeland, M. Dobrovolskaia, S. McNeil, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 61 (2009) 428–437.
- [95] D. Dell'Orco, M. Lundqvist, C. Oslakovic, T. Cedervall, S. Linse, *PLoS ONE* 5 (2010) e10949. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0010949.
- [96] H.R. Kim, K. Andrieux, C. Delomenie, H. Chacun, M. Appel, D. Desmaele, F. Taran, D. Georgin, P. Couvreur, M. Taverna, *Electrophoresis* 28 (2007) 2252–2261.
- [97] H.R. Kim, K.Andrieux, S.Gil,M. Taverna,H. Chacun, D.Desmaele, F. Taran,D.Georgin, P. Couvreur, *Biomacromolecules* 8 (2007) 793–799.
- [98] D. Labarre, C. Vauthier, C. Chauvierre, B. Petri, R.Muller, M.M. Chehimi, *Biomaterials* 26 (2005) 5075–5084.
- [99] B. Stella, S. Arpicco, M. Peracchia, D. Desmaele, J. Hoebeke, M. Renoir, J. D'Angelo, L. Cattel, P. Couvreur, J. Pharm. Sci. 89 (2000) 1452–1464.
- [100] J. Duan, M. Liu, Y. Zhang, J. Zhao, Y. Pan, X. Yang, J. Nanopart. Res. 14 (2012) 761.
- [101] J. Nicolas, F. Bensaid, D. Desmaele, M. Grogna, C. Detrembleur, K. Andrieux, P. Couvreur, *Macromolecules* 41 (2008) 8418–8428.
- [102] A. Gulyaev, B. Ermekbaeva, G. Kivman, T. Radchenko, A. Sherstov, V. Shirinskii, *Pharm. Chem. J.* 32 (1998) 3–6.
- [103] H. Pinto-Alphandary, A. Andremont, P. Couvreur, Int. J. Antimicrob. Ag. 13 (2000) 155–168.
- [104] E. Fattal, M. Youssef, P. Couvreur, A. Andremont, Antimicrob. Agents Chemotherapy 33 (1989) 1540–1543.
- [105] K. Kisich, S. Gelperina, M. Higgins, S. Wilson, E. Shipulo, E. Oganesyan, L. Heifets, Int. J. Pharm. 345 (2007) 154–162.
- [106] G. Fontana, M. Licciardi, S. Mansueto, D. Schillaci, G. Giammona, *Biomaterials* 22 (2001) 2857–2865.

- [107] G. Cavallaro, M. Fresta, G. Giammona, G. Puglisi, A. Villari, Int. J. Pharm. 111 (1994) 31–41.
- [108] O. Balland, H. Pinto-Alphandary, S. Pecquet, A. Andremont, P. Couvreur, J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 33 (1994) 509–522.
- [109] E. Briones, C. Colino, J. Lanao, J. Controlled Release 125 (2008) 210–227.
- [110] F. Fawaz, F. Bonini, J. Maugein, A. Lagueny, Int. J. Pharm. 168 (1998) 255–259.
- [111] Q. Zhang, G. Liao, D. Wei, T. Nagai, Int. J. Pharm. 164 (1998) 21–27.
- [112] M. Alonso, C. Losa, P. Calvo, J. Vila-Jato, Int. J. Pharm. 68 (1991) 69–76.
- [113] G. Gonzalez-Marti, C. Figueroa, L. Merino, A. Osuna, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 49 (2000) 137–142.
- [114] G. Yordanov, N. Abrashev, C. Dushkin, Progr. Colloid Polym. Sci. 137 (2010) 53–59.
- [115] F. Forestier, P. Gerrier, C. Chaumard, A. Quero, P. Couvreur, C. Labarre, J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 30 (1992) 173–179.
- [116] A. Bender, H. Briesen, J. Kreuter, I. Duncan, H. Rubsamen-Waigmann, Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 40 (1996) 1467–1471.
- [117] H. Briesen, P. Ramge, J. Kreuter, AIDS Rev. 2 (2000) 31-38.
- [118] Z.R. Zhang, Q. He, World J. Gastroenterol. 5 (1999) 330–333.
- [119] R. Lobenberg, L. Araujo, J. Kreuter, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 44 (1997) 127–132.
- [120] R. Lobenberg, L. Araujo, H. Briesen, E. Rodgers, J. Kreuter, J. Controlled Release 50 (1998) 21–30.
- [121] M. Demoy, S. Gibaud, J. Andreux, C. Weingarten, B. Gouritin, P. Couvreur, *Pharm. Res.* 14 (1997) 463–468.
- [122] C. Verdun, F. Brasseur, H. Vranckx, P. Couvreur, M. Roland, Cancer Chemother. Pharmacol. 26 (1990) 13–18.
- [123] N. Chiannilkulchai, N. Ammoury, B. Caillou, J. Devissaguet, P. Couvreur, Cancer Chemother. Pharmacol. 26 (1990) 122–126.
- [124] A. Hawley, S. Davis, L. Illum, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 17 (1995) 129–148.
- [125] S. Moghimi, B. Bonnemain, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 37 (1999) 295–312.
- [126] Y. Nishioka, H. Yoshino, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 47 (2001) 55-64.
- [127] C. Oussoren, G. Storm, *Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev.* 50 (**2001**) 143–156.
- [128] A.E. Hawley, L. Illum, S. Davis, FEBS Lett. 400 (1997) 319-323.
- [129] M. Peracchia, E. Fattal, D. Desmaele, M. Besnard, J. Noel, J. Gomis, M. Appel, J. D'Angelo, P. Couvreur, J. Controlled Release 60 (1999) 121–128.
- [130] R. Gref, Y. Minamitake, M. Peracchia, V. Trubetskoy, V. Torchilin, R. Langer, *Science* 263 (1994) 1600–1603.
- [131] D. Bazile, C. Prud'homme, M. Bassoullet, M. Marlard, G. Spenlehauer, M. Veillard, J. Pharm. Sci. 84 (1995) 493–498.

- [132] L. Treupel, M. Poupon, P. Couvreur, F. Puisieux, C.R. Acad. Sci. III 313 (1991) 171–174.
- [133] C. Cuvier, L. Roblot-Treupel, J. Millot, G. Lizard, S. Chevillard, M. Manfait, P. Couvreur, M. Poupon, *Biochem. Pharm.* 44 (1992) 509–517.
- [134] S. Bennis, C. Chapey, J. Robert, P. Couvreur, *Eur. J. Cancer* 30 (1994) 89–93.
- [135] J. Kattan, P. Droz, P. Couvreur, P. Marino, A. Boutan-Laroze, P. Rougier, P. Brault, H. Vranckx, J.M. Grognet, X. Morge, H. Sancho-Garnier, *Invest. New Drugs* 10 (1992) 191–199.
- [136] Q. Zhou, X. Sun, L. Zeng, J. Liu, Z. Zhang, Nanomedicine: NBM 5 (2009) 419–423.
- [137] J. Kreuter, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 47 (2001) 65–81.
- [138] P. Ramge, R. Unger, J. Oltrogge, D. Zenker, D. Begley, J. Kreuter, H. Briesen, *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 12 (2000) 1931–1940.
- [139] A. Gulyaev, S. Gelperina, I. Skidan, A. Antropov, G. Kivman, J. Kreuter, *Pharm. Res.* 16 (1999) 1564–1569.
- [140] S. Gelperina, A. Khalansky, I. Skidan, Z. Smirnova, A. Bobruskin, S. Severin, B. Turowski, F. Zanella, J. Kreuter, *Toxicol. Lett.* 126 (2002) 131–141.
- [141] X. Michalet, F.F. Pinaud, L.A. Bentolila, J.M. Tsay, S. Doose, J.J. Li, G. Sundaresan, A.M. Wu, S.S. Gambhir, S. Weiss, *Science* 307 (2005) 538–544.
- [142] F. Pinaud, X. Michalet, L.A. Bentolila, J.M. Tsay, S. Doosel, J.J. Li, G. Iyer, S.Weiss, *Biomaterials* 27 (2006) 1679–1687.
- [143] T. Jamieson, R. Bakhshi, D. Petrova, R. Pocock, M. Imani, A.M. Seifalian, *Biomaterials* 28 (2007) 4717–4732.
- [144] C. Chen, J. Yao, R. Durst, J. Nanopart. Res. 8 (2006) 1033–1038.
- [145] G. Guo, W. Liu, J. Liang, H. Xu, Z. He, X. Yang, Mater. Lett. 60 (2006) 2565–2568.
- [146] V.I. Shubayev, T.R. Pisanic II, S. Jin, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 61 (2009) 467–477.
- [147] C. Lherm, R. Muller, F. Puisieux, P. Couvreur, Int. J. Pharm. 84 (1992) 13–22.
- [148] E. Gipps, P. Groscurt, J. Kreuter, P. Speiser, Int. J. Pharm. 40 (1987) 23–31.
- [149] R. Fernandez-Urrusuno, E. Fattal, D. Porquet, J. Feger, P. Couvreur, Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol. 130 (1995) 272–279.
- [150] R. Fernández-Urrusuno, E. Fattal, J. Rodrigues, J. Féger, P. Bedossa, P. Couvreur, J. Biomed. Mater. Res. 31 (1996) 401–408.
- [151] M. Simeonova, M. Antcheva, K. Chorbadjiev, Biomaterials 24 (2003) 313–320.
- [152] S. Gibaud, J. Andreux, C. Weingarten, M. Renard, P. Couvreur, *Eur. J. Cancer* 30 (1994) 820–826.

Полиалкилцианоакрилатните наночастици като лекарствени носители: 33 години по-късно

Георги Йорданов

Факултет по химия и фармация, Софийски университет "Св. Кл. Охридски", бул. Дж. Баучер № 1, 1164 София, България Автор за кореспонденция. E-mail: g.g.yordanov@gmail.com

Получена: 24 май 2012 Рецензирана: 29 май 2012 Приета: 30 май 2012 Излязла online: 2 юни 2012

Колоидните наночастици на основата на биосъвместими и биоерозивни полиалкилцианоакрилатни материали са получени за първи път през 1979 г. и все още са обект на интензивни изследвания с цел разработване на нови лекарствени формулировки за насочено лекарствено доставяне. През последните 33 години са разработени различни видове полиалкилцианоакрилатни наночастици – наносфери, нанокапсули, хибридни полимерномагнитни наночастици, дългоциркулиращи наночастици, както и наночастици, които са функционализирани с насочващи лиганди за активно целево лекарствено доставяне. Получени са формулировки с полиалкилцианоакрилатни наночастици на различни видове биологично-активни вещества – цитостатици, антибиотици, противовирусни агенти, противогъбични лекарства, нестероидни противовъзпалителни лекарства, биологично-активни протеини, нуклеинови киселини и др. Настоящият обзор няма за цел да бъде пълно и изчерпателно обобщение на всички получени до момента резултати, а цели да обобщи основните концепции и идеи, свързани с получаването и приложението на полиалкилцианоакрилатните наночастици като лекарствени носители, да изтъкне най-важните открития и да очертае бъдещите перспективи в областта.

Ключови дъми: лекарствено доставяне; наночастици; полиалкилцианоакрилат